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United states district court
central district of california

	ALAN VITT, Individually and On Behalf of All Others Similarly Situated,



Plaintiff,


vs.

APPLE COMPUTER, INC., a California corporation, 



Defendant.
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	Case No.:  CV 06-07152 GHK RCx

CLASS ACTION

SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE ADVERTISING LAW AND THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED



Plaintiff, Alan Vitt (“Plaintiff”), by counsel and pursuant to this Court’s Order dated June 14, 2007, on behalf of himself and all others similarly situated, for his Second Amended Class Action Complaint (the “SAC”) against Defendant, Apple Computer, Inc. (“Apple” or “Defendant”), hereby alleges upon personal knowledge and belief as to his own acts, and upon information and belief (based on the investigation of his counsel) as to all other matters, as to which allegations he believes substantial evidentiary support will exist after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation and discovery, as follows: 

I.
NATURE OF CLASS ACTION
1.
This is a nationwide class action brought on behalf of all purchasers (consumers) of products called iBook laptop computers in the G4 series (the “iBook G4”), sold in the United States by Defendant Apple.  During the Class Period and in violation of California law, Apple sold these products to consumers utilizing false and misleading advertising, deceptive practices, and false and fraudulent claims thereby injuring consumers at the time of their purchase of the defective iBook G4. 

2.
Apple markets and sells the iBook G4s, which are laptop computers.  During the Class Period, Apple failed to inform consumers, including Plaintiff and Class members, that the iBook G4 logic boards have an inherent defect which causes them to fail at abnormally high rates.  Consequently, Plaintiff and Class members purchased thousands of iBook G4 laptops and, as a result, have suffered failures of these laptop computers.  The Apple iBook G4s are unfit for regular usage by their owners because the logic boards consistently fail.  Specifically, there exist reflow soldering problems which allow connection problems across the iBook G4 platform.

II.
FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS
3.
The iBook G4s are laptop computers manufactured by Apple, which represented and advertised the iBook G4 as a reliable, durable, rugged, mobile, portable and affordable option to other types of computers.  Plaintiff’s experiences, mirroring those of thousands of other iBook G4 purchasers who have posted messages on the Internet documenting their problems with the iBook G4 series, demonstrate that Apple’s representations to Plaintiff and Class members were false and misleading. 

4.
Contrary to the reputed quality of Apple products, the iBook G4 logic boards are not reliable and do not function properly.  These iBook G4s have at least one serious design defect that causes the logic boards to fail.  According to Steven Fowler, an expert in electronics, electrostatistics and radiation, “the Apple iBook G4 has serious inherent problems resulting in premature failure of solder joints on the laptop.”  Mr. Fowler has also found that the soldering defect renders the iBooks inherently fragile, unsuited for the mobile, “on the go” uses for which Apple advertised them.  Incorporated, attached and hereby alleged as part of this SAC as if fully set forth herein as Exhibit 1 to this SAC is the “Preliminary Opinion on Apple iBook G4 Problems and Litigation” setting forth the qualifications of Mr. Fowler, his research regarding the iBook G4 and his results regarding same. 

5.
The Consumer Complaints Board in Denmark, along with the Government of Denmark, conducted a study of the iBook G4 and discovered evidence of a “hidden, original design defect in Apple’s iBook G4” (emphasis added).  Incorporated, attached and hereby alleged as part of this SAC as if fully set forth herein as Exhibits 2 and 3 are the “Press Release: Danish Complaint Case may have Global Consequence For Apple” printed from the website http://www.forbrug.dk and the report of the National Consumer Agency of Denmark regarding the Apple iBook G4 printed from the website http://www.forbrug.dk respectively. 

6.
During the Class Period, prior to marketing, advertising and selling iBook G4s (or, at a minimum, after Apple had been selling iBook G4s for a few months), Apple was aware that the product’s logic boards were inherently defective as found by Mr. Fowler and the Danish Consumer Complaint Board.  After the laptops went on the market, Apple’s customer service department received hundreds of complaints from consumers regarding the same problem.  There is an online petition, disseminated on the Internet, documenting the existence of the problem at http://www.petitiononline.com/ibookg4/petition.html.  Despite its knowledge of the problem, Apple continued to manufacture and market the iBook G4s without any modifications.

7.
Apple was under a duty to Plaintiff and the Class to disclose the defective nature of the iBook G4 because: (a) Apple was in a superior position to know the true state of facts about the solder/logic board defect in the iBook G4s; (b) Plaintiff and Class members could not reasonably have been expected to learn or discover that the iBook G4s had a defect until manifestation of the failure; and (c) Apple knew that Plaintiff and Class members could not reasonably have been expected to learn or discover the soldering defect.  The existence of the defect was within Apple’s exclusive knowledge and control, Apple actively concealed the material defect from Plaintiffs and the Class, and Apple’s partial representations about the iBook G4s’ quality – made without revealing the solder/logic board defect- gave rise to a duty to disclose.  

8.
The defective nature of the iBook G4 was a material fact that Apple concealed from Plaintiffs and the Class. Had Plaintiff, and any reasonable consumer, known that the iBook G4 contained such a material, inherent defect, they would not have purchased the iBook G4 because of the high cost of replacement of the logic board and because the defective nature of the iBook G4 contradicts Apple’s representations of quality, mobility, ruggedness and portability and causes the iBook G4 to be overpriced because of its defect.  Apple broadly advertises its iBook G4 and through its advertisements makes partial disclosures about the iBook G4 without revealing the defective logic board.  Plaintiff and the Class reasonably expected the iBook G4 to be free from defects and for the iBook G4 logic board to last at least a couple of years.  That is the reasonable and objective consumer expectation for laptop computers and their logic boards.  However, the logic boards are defective due to the premature failure of the defective soldering in normal use. 

9.
Upon information and belief, the iBook G4 laptops use the same logic board as the iBook G3 series laptops, also manufactured by Apple.  Defendant previously instituted a recall program to address the logic board problem in the iBook G3 series laptops but Apple has failed and refused to extend that program to include the iBook G4 series.

10.
Apple has refused, and continues to refuse, to warn consumers (including Plaintiffs and Class members) about the defects inherent in the iBook G4 logic boards or to effectively remedy the problems and defects inherent in the iBook G4.  Unwilling to admit fault, Apple has sat silently while consumers purchased these defective products and Apple continues to sit silently today as the logic boards fail.  Apple consistently denies that the problem exists at all and, at best, Apple merely replaces failed logic boards with the identical defective boards such that the defect is not corrected even though Apple informs consumers that it was. 

11.
In August 2004, Plaintiff purchased an iBook G4 from Apple in reliance upon Apple’s deceptive, fraudulent and false material representations alleged in this SAC that said iBook G4s were of high quality and free from defect, and were suitable for personal use.  Specifically, in July 2004, prior to his purchase, Plaintiff read an April 19, 2004 press release in which Philip Schiller, Apple’s senior vice president of Worldwide Product Marketing, is quoted as saying:  “The iBook G4 was built from the ground up for consumers and students living their digital life on the go… The new iBook G4 is an incredible value….”  (http://www.apple.com/pr/library/2004/apr/19ibook.html).  Apple’s senior vice president, Mr. Schiller, deceived consumers, including Plaintiff, when he stated that the iBook G4 is an “incredible value,” while Apple was aware of the faulty logic boards in the iBook G4.  Apple’s executive’s statement that the iBook G4 offers great “performance and affordability” is false and misleading for the same reasons.  Moreover, Mr. Schiller’s representation that the iBook G4 is ideal for “consumers and students … on the go” implies that the iBook G4 may be carried by consumers and students and will survive expected and expectable knocks and drops by students and consumers who are “on the go.”  In fact, these statements induced Plaintiff to further research the iBook G4 and eventually purchase the iBook G4 because he relied on Apple’s representations that the iBook G4 is ideal for usage during travel.  Instead, even with ordinary usage, much less “on the go” usage, these iBook G4s have had significant logic board failures and malfunctions, thereby rendering Apple’s representations false and misleading.  Plaintiff was injured at the time he purchased the iBook G4 because he would not have purchased the iBook G4 had Apple disclosed that its logic board was defective, that Apple would not repair the defective iBook G4 logic board for free, and that, as a result, the iBook G4 was overpriced due to its defect.  In fact, the logic board on Plaintiff’s iBook G4 completely failed. 

12.
Apple’s April 2004 press release which induced Plaintiff to purchase the iBook G4 goes on to state that the “new 12- and 14-inch iBooks offer a perfect mix of portability, performance and affordability, with faster PowerPC G4 processors and up to six hours of battery life for all-day mobile use in the classroom or on the road.”  (http://www.apple.com/pr/library/2004/apr/19ibook.html).  These representations regarding “portability, performance and affordability … for all-day mobile use in the classroom or on the road” are equally false and misleading and induced Plaintiff to purchase the 14-inch iBook G4 based on his reasonable belief that the iBook G4 was portable and appropriate for usage during travel.  The iBook G4s are not durable, are not rugged, and they contain a defect that causes the logic board to fail and does not allow for “portability” or “all-day mobile use”.  This failure will force consumers to spend hundreds of dollars to fix the logic board and to live without a functioning computer while it is being repaired.  This takes away the alleged “performance” and “affordability” of these iBook G4’s.

13.
Upon information and belief, thousands of consumers have encountered precisely the same logic board failures as the problem experienced by Plaintiff with his iBook G4.  The online site, www.petitiononline.com, contains the following petition: 


To:  Apple Computer

It is our wish that Apple Computer acknowledges that iBook G4s produced between October 2003 and April 2004 (12” 800Mhz, 14” 1Ghz) commonly have a manufacturing or design fault causing the graphics card to fail and requiring the logic board to be replaced.  We ask Apple to extend its logic board repair program for iBook G3s to cover these models.  


The symptoms of the failure are: Scrambled or distorted video


Appearance of unexpected lines on the screen


Intermittent video image


Video freeze


Computer starts up to blank screen


Sincerely, 


The Undersigned

(http://www.petitiononline.com/ibookg4/petition.html).  As of July 17, 2007, this petition contains signatures affixed by 2,576 consumers.

14.
Had Plaintiff and other consumers been made aware of the design defect and its result -- the crashing of the logic boards -- they would not have purchased the Apple iBook G4 laptop computers at issue in this case.

15.
Apple is one of the world’s largest computer manufacturers.  Incorporated in 1977 in California, Apple has been an aggressive competitor in the personal computer business for over 30 years.  Apple’s website states that the company’s mission is “to bring the best personal computing experience to students, educators, creative professionals and consumers around the world through its innovative hardware, software and Internet offerings.”   

16.
More specifically, Apple’s website advertising attempts to persuade consumers, including students, of the high quality and unique design of the iBook G4 laptops.  A typical example is Apple’s representation concerning the iBook G4, which states: 

The new iBook G4 provides everything a student needs - a durable, lightweight, powerful laptop for learning on the go.  And now with a faster processor, built-in wireless networking capabilities, in all models and 512 MB of memory, the iBook provides even greater value for schools.  Every iBook G4 comes equipped with an array of digital learning software to ensure students have the tools they need to succeed.

(http://www.apple.com/ca/education/products/ibook/).  Apple’s attempt to persuade consumers of the high quality of the iBook G4 constitutes false and deceptive advertising because Apple is aware of the defect in the logic boards and the iBook G4’s propensity to fail.  Contrary to Apple’s representations, the iBook G4 does not provide “great[] value for schools” and does not “ensure students have the tools they need to succeed.”  Instead, the iBook G4 is a substandard computer sold to students with a propensity to fail.  Moreover, Apple’s representation that the iBook G4 is “durable” is simply false.  In fact, the iBook G4 frequently breaks and it is not built to be durable.

17.
In its website advertising, Apple goes on to represent:


Simply the best in mobile computing 

Apple recognized the importance of mobility to education and designed the rugged, lightweight, fast and wireless-equipped iBook G4 with a long life battery – up to six hours on a single charge, making it perfect for education. These features have added up to the iBook being the most popular notebook for student learning in K-12 schools today.

(http://www.apple.com/ca/education/whyapple/solutions.html).  (Emphasis in original.)  Apple’s statements that the iBook G4 is “simply the best in mobile computing” and that it is “perfect for education” are also false and misleading.  Once purchased, the student or the school will soon find out that the logic board is defective and will be forced to spend hundreds of dollars fixing the defect.  Moreover, Apple’s further representation that the iBook G4 is “rugged” is also untrue.  As set forth above, the iBook G4 is not durable and is prone to breakage, thus, it is not in fact “rugged.”  

18.
In its website advertising, Apple states that the iBook G4 is “[a] reliable and secure computing environment.”  (http://www.apple.com/ca/education/whyapple/solutions.html).  The representation that the iBook G4 is “reliable” is false.  The iBook G4 is not reliable because of the propensity of the iBook G4 to fail.

19.
In its website advertising, Apple further represents that the iBook G4s are “[h]igh performance computers and networking solutions.”  (http://www.apple.com/ca/education/whyapple/solutions.html).  This same defect does not allow the iBook G4 to perform at all, much less provide “high performance,” thereby rendering Apple’s representation of performance false. 

20.
Apple also states that the products provide “[a] platform that provides a low cost of ownership and high value.”  (http://www.apple.com/ca/education/whyapple/solutions.html).  The alleged “low cost of ownership and high value” are proven false by the likelihood that Plaintiffs and Class members will have to pay for the repair of the iBook G4’s logic board or the loss of the iBook G4 in its entirety after the likely failure of its logic board.  

21.  On its Internet website, Plaintiff read (along with thousands of other consumers) Apple’s representations that the iBook G4 is: 

Small and light … 

Perfect for school use, the iBook G4 is easy to carry from classroom to classroom, from home to school, even on field trips and club events.  … 

yet durable… 

iBook G4 is designed to withstand the wear and tear of student usage in a mobile learning environment.  …

… and built to take an impact.

Inside each iBook G4 is a magnesium frame which provides superior strength and added protection against everyday bumps and jolts.  The iBook G4 is also built to withstand reasonable shock to the hard drive with energy absorbing rubber mounts.  And now every iBook G4 is also equipped with Apple’s Sudden Motion Sensor to help protect student data.  The Sudden Motion Sensor Senses change in axis position and accelerated movement.  In the event of a drop or fall, the Sudden Motion Sensor instantly parks the hard drive heads so they won’t scratch the disks on impact, lessening the risk of damage and improving chances of retrieving valuable data.  When the Sudden Motion sensor sense the iBook G4 is once again level, it unlocks the hard drive heads automatically, providing additional security against the vagaries of student use.

(http://www.apple.com/ca/education/products/ibook/).  (Emphasis in original.)  Prior to his August 2004 purchase Plaintiff relied on these representations which in fact induced him to purchase the iBook G4 as opposed to any other computer because he reasonably believed that the iBook G4 is durable, portable, built to take an impact and mobile.  Once again, Plaintiff alleges that the iBook G4 is not durable, rugged or portable and that it fails at abnormally high rates.  It is not built to be portable, durable or rugged and cannot be dropped thus making this representation regarding durability and portability deceptive and false.  

22.
Plaintiff was further induced to purchase the iBook G4 based upon Apple’s Internet website which further boasts:

Big functionality for a small price

With full-featured models starting at just $1199 for education, iBook G4 continues to be an affordable choice and the ideal student laptop whether your school is considering 1 to 1 learning or a mobile lab solution.  As the best-selling portable computer in education, it is the most affordable, full-featured notebook with all the components needed for 21st century learning - … .”
(http://www.apple.com/ca/education/products/ibook/).  (Emphasis in original.)  Contrary to this express representation, Apple’s iBook G4 is not an “affordable choice” as Plaintiff was induced to believe because it is defective, warranting a costly repair and making it prone to breakage.  Moreover, Apples representation that the iBook G4 is an “ideal student laptop” is also false because of the inherent defect causing breakage of the computer and forcing students to expend money for repairs, all the while being without their essential laptop computer.  Thus, Apples representations are false and misleading.

23.
All of the representations by Apple to Plaintiffs and Class members, as stated in Paragraphs 11 through 12 and 16 through 22 of this SAC, are false and/or misleading because Apple knew at the time of the representations that the graphic chip frequently becomes unsoldered from the iBook G4’s logic board, thereby causing a failure.  Apple further knew that it would cost a consumer hundreds of dollars to fix this defect, only to have the same logic board failure repeat over and over again.  Still, Apple continued to make the above-referenced false and deceptive representations and thereby induced consumers to spend money on a flawed product, thereby violating California’s consumer protection statutes.  

24.
The iBook G4s are defective in material and/or workmanship under normal use and, because their design is defective, the computers are defective from the moment the computers are sold.  Plaintiff and consumers are injured at the time they purchase the inherently defective computer.  Apple’s deceptive marketing and sales practices, including affirmative misrepresentations and omissions, were material and substantial and were made in the form of common misrepresentations of material facts upon which persons, including Plaintiff and Class members could be expected to, and did, rely.  

25.
Apple uses the limited warranty offered to consumers after they purchase the iBook G4s, and thus after consumers are injured as a result of their purchase, as part and parcel of Apple’s fraudulent and deceptive conduct.  California law prohibits Apple from using the warranty as a ploy to exculpate Apple for the fraud and false advertising perpetrated upon consumers by the sale of inherently defective computers to consumers.

26.
When a failure occurs – or, more commonly, continues to occur – after a consumer’s warranty has expired, Apple charges the consumer to troubleshoot the issue and then charges the consumer even more to make the computer function again.  Many consumers pay Apple for “repairs,” or pay third-party repair shops to get their computers functioning and have not been reimbursed for their out-of-pocket expenses.

27.
Apple has not publicly issued any statement that it is aware that the computers do not conform to its descriptions.  Yet, Apple is currently aware, was aware during the one-year warranty period, and either knew or should have known about the nonconformance prior to selling the iBook G4 computers to Plaintiffs and Class members.  Still, despite its knowledge of the defect Apple actively concealed and failed to disclose the existence and nature of the defects from Plaintiff and the Class at the time of purchase and thereafter. 

28.
According to the Danish report “[t]housands of users all over the world have tried to get Apple to acknowledge the fault and agree to take back the computers” to no avail.  Ex. 1.  “Users of iBook G4 find that the power goes off in the computer and the screen goes blank after just over one year’s use.”  Id.  “The investigation showed that a solder joint between two components had broken, so that current could not longer pass through them.  It also showed that breakage occurs because the solder joint loosens slightly every time the computer is turned on and off.”  Id., p. 2.  “When the computer had been turned on and off a sufficient number of times, the solder joint broke completely loose, resulting in a blank screen.”  Id.  An independent electronics laboratory, Delta, had the laboratory facilities and expertise to carry out the complicated investigations and analyses of advanced electronics.  Id.  It examined a defective iBook G4 by taking it apart and removing the logic board.  Id.  Once removed, Delta conducted a number of tests on specific components under suspicion in the logic board, including solder joints in which the inner structure of these soldering positions becomes visible in microscopy.  Id.  “The investigation and pictures of the inside of the computer and the defect can be seen on www.forbrug.dk”, id., and are attached to this SAC as Ex. 2.  The photographs show fractures found in solder joints as well as breakage and grain growth in the microstructure of the solder joint.  Id. 

29.
The investigation proved that breakage in solder joints is the source of error.  Id.  “The error pattern including degradation/breakage found as well as grain growth in the solder joint microstructure … indicates that the cause of error can be ascribed to adverse circumstances of power cycling for this specific component position for the Apple iBook G4 Logic Board Print Module.”  Id.  “Adverse circumstances of “power cycling” mean a gradual degradation in solder joints as a consequence of power deposition in the component in the power up/power down situation, which, as a result of several circumstance, … will be able to cause stress/degradation in solder joints.  ‘Power cycling’ in a component can occur in consequence of a construction defect in the component itself or in consequence of the way in which the component forms part of the design of the whole logic board, such as the component’s location in relation to other components.”  Id.   In any case, “the product lifetime is far too short, and, on the basis of the present results from technical examinations, the malfunction found is considered to be ascribable to a weakness in the product’s design.”  Id. (emphasis added).  

30.
Mr. Fowler has found “[t]he main causes of the problems seen by many users of the iBook G4 laptop in my opinion are reflow solder problems which allow connections problems across the iBook platform.  These problems represent an inherent defect, which does and will disallow iBooks from functioning as represented by the Apple marketing statements.”  Ex. 3.  The “reflow problems [are] inherent in all iBook G4 platforms [and] are a lack of good solder flow…. [making] the solder joints very fragile and disallow the iBook G4 from functioning as a robust platform for normal mobile use such as in student applications.”   Id.  “[T]he solder integrity is very important due to the high stresses of the mobile use, impact issues and flexure of the unit due to pressing on the keyboard.  Apple did not manufacture a system robust enough to withstand the normal stress of the intended use of the product.”  Id.  

31.
In contrast to the results of the Danish study, Mr. Fowler’s opinion and Apple’s own knowledge of the inherently flawed product, as alleged in this SAC, Apple misrepresents the iBook G4 as being “durable” “rugged” “reliable”  “high performance computers”, with a “low cost of ownership and high value” “an incredible value” the “perfect mix of portability, performance and affordability … for all-day mobile use in the classroom or on the road”, that the “iBook G4 is designed to withstand the wear and tear of student usage in a mobile learning environment,”  and that it is  “built to take an impact.”  The unimpeachable scientific evidence proves the inherent defect alleged herein. 

32.
As alleged in this SAC, Apple’s advertisements and representations constitute deceptive and untruthful advertising and marketing, in violation of California law.  Apple’s scheme of false and misleading advertising and marketing has resulted in thousands of consumers purchasing the iBook G4s, based upon the expectation that the iBook G4s have the qualities that are advertised and will function as represented.  Apple’s unfair and deceptive course of conduct is common to all purchasers of the iBook G4s.  Apple's scheme is ongoing and will victimize more consumers every day until it is halted by judicial intervention.  Each purchaser of the iBook G4 was injured by purchasing a defective product at an excessive price because its defects were concealed and because the cost to correct the defect was and is substantial.

33.
The scheme to defraud consumers alleged in this SAC violates the California Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”), Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200 et seq., and the False Advertising Law (“FAL”), Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500 et seq.  Apple’s use of the limited warranty to exculpate itself from defrauding consumers as alleged in this SAC also violates the UCL. 

34.
Consequently, by this SAC and on behalf of the consumers of the iBook G4s, Plaintiff seeks restitution to compensate Plaintiff and Class members for their monetary losses, disgorgement of all of Apple's wrongfully earned profits and other gains from the scheme, and an injunction to halt Apple’s continuation of its illegal and meretricious conduct.

III.
PARTIES
35.
Plaintiff, Alan Vitt, is an individual who resides in the County of Los Angeles, California.  Plaintiff is a consumer who, in July 2004 was induced by Apple’s April 19, 2004 press release and website advertisements (as set forth above) to purchase in August 2004, and thereafter use Apple’s iBook G4 in reliance upon Apple’s deceptive, fraudulent and false representations that said iBook G4s were of high quality, portable, durable, mobile and free from defect.  Plaintiff was injured thereby at the time of purchase because he would not have purchased the iBook G4 had Apple disclosed the material fact that its logic board was defective, that Apple would not repair the iBook G4 logic board for free, and that the iBook G4 was overpriced due to its defect.  The logic board on Plaintiff’s iBook G4 completely failed.  As a result of Defendant Apple’s violations of California law in making said false, fraudulent and deceptive representations, Plaintiff has lost money and property.  Plaintiff seeks relief in his individual capacity and on behalf of a Class consisting of all other consumers who purchased Apple’s product, the iBook G4, within four years prior to the date when the original Complaint in this class action was filed.

36.
Defendant Apple is a California corporation with its principal place of business located in Cupertino, California, doing business throughout the County of Los Angeles, the State of California, and the United States of America.

IV.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE
37.
This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, and the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005. 

38.
Venue is proper in this Court because many members of the Class, including Plaintiff, reside in this District; many of the acts described in this Complaint occurred in this District; Apple’s corporate headquarters are sufficiently close to this District that defending an action here would pose no undue burden; and Defendant conducts substantial business within this County and District.

/ / /

V.
CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
39.
This action may properly be maintained as a Class Action pursuant to Rule 23(a) and (b) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.

40.
Plaintiff brings this action as a class action on behalf of all purchasers of iBook G4s who reside in the United States of America.

41.
The Class is composed of numerous residents of the State of California and the United States, including Plaintiff, and joinder of everyone is impracticable.  Although the exact number of Class members is presently unknown, Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that the Class will number in at least thousands of consumers.  Apple iBook G4s are sold throughout the State of California and the United States in stores, as well as by retailers on the Internet.  The members of the Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable.  The disposition of the claims of Plaintiff and other Class members in this action will provide substantial benefits to the parties and this Court.  

42.
There exists a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact presented by this controversy.  These questions of law and fact common to Plaintiff and Class members predominate over questions which may affect only individual members, if any, because Defendant Apple has acted on grounds generally applicable to the entire Class, thereby making appropriate final injunctive relief and corresponding declaratory relief with respect to the Class as a whole.  Among the questions of law and fact common to the Class are the following:

a)
Whether Apple’s scheme to utilize false and deceptive statements violates the UCL and the FAL;

b)
Whether Apple’s offer of a limited warranty violates Cal. Civ. Code §§1668 and 1670.5 and in turn violates the UCL;

c)
Whether Defendant Apple made unsubstantiated claims regarding the iBook G4 laptops;

d)
Whether Defendant Apple’s misrepresentations constitute false and misleading advertising;

e)
Whether Defendant Apple should be enjoined from engaging in the scheme to defraud; and

f)
The amount of restitution that Plaintiff and the members of the Class should be awarded.

43.
Plaintiff is a member of the Class.  Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other Class members because Plaintiff and all Class members were injured by the same wrongful acts and practices in which Apple engaged, as alleged herein.

44.
Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class.  The interests of Plaintiff are coincident with, and not antagonistic to, those of the Class members.  In addition, Plaintiff has retained attorneys who are experienced and competent in the prosecution of complex and class litigation.  Neither Plaintiff nor his attorneys have any conflict in undertaking this representation. 

45.
A class action is superior to the alternatives, if any, for the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy alleged herein because such treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated persons to prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without duplication of evidence, effort, and expense that numerous individual actions would engender.  This action will result in the orderly and expeditious administration of Class claims.  Uniformity of decisions will be assured, thereby avoiding the risk of inconsistent and varying determinations.

46.
Because the injuries suffered by individual Class members or the amount of restitution or disgorgement to each Class member may be relatively small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it virtually impossible for the members of the Class effectively to seek redress individually for the Defendant’s alleged wrongful conduct.

47.
Plaintiff knows of no difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this litigation which would preclude its maintenance as a class action.  

48.
Common questions of law and fact predominate in this case, and a class action is the only appropriate method for the complete adjudication of this controversy for the following reasons, among others:

a)
The individual amounts of restitution involved, while not insubstantial, are generally so small that individual actions or other individual remedies are impracticable and litigating individual actions would be too costly;

b)
The costs of individual suits would unreasonably consume the amounts that would be recovered; 

c)
Individual actions would create a risk of inconsistent results and would be unnecessary and duplicative of this litigation; and

d)
Individual actions would unnecessarily burden the courts and waste precious judicial resources.

49.
Notice to the members of the Class may be accomplished cheaply, efficiently and in a manner best designed to protect the rights of all Class members.

VI.  ESTOPPEL FROM PLEADING AND TOLLING OF 

APPLICABLE STATUTES OF LIMITATIONS
50.
Defendant Apple is estopped from relying on any statutes of limitation by virtue of their acts of fraudulent concealment and by selling the Apple iBook G4s with known latent defects in violation of the UCL, the FAL, and Cal. Civ. Code §§1670.5, 1668, 1770(a)(5)(7)(9)(14) and (19).  As alleged in this SAC, Apple has actively concealed the true nature of the iBook G4.

51.
Apple has systematically denied that its claims, advertising and representations are false or misleading.  Because of Apple’s nondisclosure of the true nature of the iBook G4, Plaintiff and the members of the Class could not reasonably have discovered the wrongdoing alleged in this SAC.  Given Defendant’s failure to disclose this non-public information about the defective nature of the iBook G4, over which it had exclusive control, and because Plaintiff could not reasonably have known that the iBook G4s were not as advertised and represented, Apple is estopped from relying on any statues of limitations that might otherwise be applicable to the claims asserted herein.  Further, any such statutes of limitations have been tolled by Apple’s acts of concealment and misrepresentations.

VII.  APPLE’S SCHEME TO DEFRAUD CONSUMERS
52.
Defendant Apple has represented, expressly or by implication, including through advertisements disseminated throughout the County of Los Angeles, the State of California, and the United States that:

a)
Apple iBook G4s are of high quality and reliable; and

b)
Apple iBook G4s are appropriate for the uses for which they are advertised, delivering a high quality computing experience.  

In fact, as alleged in this SAC, Apple knew that the iBook G4s were defective in design and performance.  As a result, the claims and representations made by Apple, as alleged in Paragraphs 11 through 12 and 16 through 22 of this SAC, are false and misleading.

53.
Defendant has marketed the iBook G4s to consumers in the County of Los Angeles, the State of California, and the United States by propagating these false and misleading claims through advertisements and other media in order to induce consumers to buy the iBook G4s without learning the truth that the iBook G4s are defective in design and performance. 

54.
Defendant’s offer of its limited warranty at the time a consumer purchases an iBook G4 is a further ploy by Apple to exculpate Apple for the fraud perpetrated upon consumers as alleged in this SAC and is unenforceable and unconscionable in violation of Cal. Civ. Code §§1668 & 1670.5.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violations of FAL)
55.
Paragraphs 1 through 54 of this SAC are realleged and incorporated by reference.  This claim arises under the FAL.  

56.
At all times relevant hereto, Apple was a “person” and a “corporation”, as those terms are defined in Bus. & Prof. Code § 17506.

57.
The FAL provides that “[i]t is unlawful for any person, firm, corporation or association with intent ... to dispose of ... personal property ... to induce the public to enter into any obligation relating thereto, to make or disseminate or cause to be made or disseminated before the public in this state, ... any statement ... which is untrue or misleading, and which is known, or which by the exercise of reasonable care should be known, to be untrue or misleading...”  Bus. & Prof. Code § 17500.

58.
On the advertisements, brochures, and marketing materials described in Paragraphs 11 through 12 and 16 through 22 of this SAC, Defendant represented that the Apple iBook G4s were of high quality and free from defect.  

59.
Defendant did not disclose, conspicuously or otherwise, on any of these materials that such representations were false, untrue and/or misleading.

60.
Defendant’s acts of untrue and misleading advertising present a continuing threat to members of the public because such advertisements induce consumers to purchase the iBook G4s.  Defendant’s actions, as complained of in this SAC, constitute unfair trade practices that are likely to and do deceive consumers, including Plaintiff, in violation of Section 17200 of the FAL. 

61.
As a result of the violations of California law described above, Apple has been, and will be, unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiff and the members of the Class.  Specifically, Defendant has been unjustly enriched by receipt of hundreds of thousands, if not millions, of dollars in monies received from customers who purchased the iBook G4s which were advertised and/or otherwise marketed in this State and this County and the United States, and which are promoted and sold through advertising and marketing materials which materially misrepresent the quality and functions of the product.

62.
Pursuant to Bus. & Prof. Code § 17535, Plaintiff requests that this Court make such orders or judgments as may be necessary to prevent the use or employment by Apple of untrue and misleading advertisements, or which may be necessary to restore to Plaintiff and the members of the Class any money which may have been acquired by Apple by means of such untrue and misleading advertisements.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violations of UCL) 

63.
Paragraphs 1 through 62 of this SAC are realleged and incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.  This claim arises under the UCL.

64.
Defendant’s actions, as complained of in this SAC, constitute unfair trade practices that are likely to and do deceive consumers, including Plaintiff, in violation of Section 17200 of the UCL.

65.
All of the conduct alleged in this SAC occurs and continues to occur in the ordinary course of Defendant’s business.  Apple’s wrongful conduct is part of a pattern or generalized course of conduct repeated on thousands of occasions daily.  Thus, Defendant’s conduct impacts the public interest.

66.
Apple also engages in unlawful business acts in violation of the UCL by violating state law including, but not limited to, Civil Code §§ 1668, 1670.5, 1770 (a)(5)(7)(9)(14) and (19) and the FAL.  Plaintiff reserves the right to further amend this SAC to identify additional violations of California law committed by Defendant as further investigation and discovery warrants.

67.
Plaintiff and Class members have all been directly and proximately injured in their business and property by Defendant’s wrongful conduct, and such injury includes the purchase of the iBook G4s at excessive prices which they would not have purchased were they truthfully and fully informed of the facts. 

68.
As a direct and proximate result of the wrongful and illegal acts alleged in this SAC, Defendant received and continues to hold ill-gotten gains belonging to Plaintiff and Class members.  Plaintiff and Class members request that this Court enter such orders or judgments as may be necessary to restore to any person in interest any money which may have been acquired by means of such unfair practices, as provided in Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, and for such other relief and further relief as may be justified as set forth below.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendant Apple as follows:

A.
Certify that this action may be maintained on behalf of a Class, with Plaintiff as the Class Representative, pursuant to Rule 23; 

B.
Order that all payments made for the Apple iBook G4s be returned to Plaintiff and the members of the Class because Defendant procured them through unfair trade practices and in violation of state law;

C.
Award to Plaintiff and each Class member restitution;

D.
Order that Defendant Apple be enjoined from engaging in unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices, as set forth in this SAC;

E.
Award to Plaintiff and each member of the Class interest on said award, pursuant to Civil Code § 3287;

F.
Order that Defendant be enjoined to publish notice of the truth regarding the iBook G4s; 

G.
Award Plaintiff and the members of the Class the costs of suit and attorneys' fees; and

H.
Award all other relief to which Plaintiff and Class members may be entitled at law or in equity.

DATED: July __, 2007

THE ROSSBACHER FIRM

By:_____________________________

Henry H. Rossbacher 

811 Wilshire Boulevard, Suite 1650

Los Angeles, CA  90017

Telephone: (213) 895-6500

Kevin P. Roddy

WILENTZ, GOLDMAN & SPITZER, P.A.

90 Woodbridge Center Drive, Suite 900

Woodbridge, NJ 07095

Telephone: (732) 636-8000

Cynthia B. Chapman 

Michael A. Caddell

George Y. Nino

CADDELL & CHAPMAN, P.C.

1331 Lamar, Suite 1070

Houston, TX 77010

/ / /

/ / /

Scott R. Shepherd

SHEPHERD, FINKELMAN, MILLER 

& SHAH, LLC

35 E. State Street

Media, PA 19063

Telephone: (610) 891-9880

Taras P. Kick

THE KICK LAW FIRM, APC

900 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 230

Los Angeles, CA 90017

Telephone: (213) 624-1588

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
PROOF OF SERVICE

(1013a, 2015.5 C.C.P.)

STATE OF CALIFORNIA
   )




        ) ss.

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES  )

I am employed in the County of Los Angeles, State of California.

I am over the age of 18 and not a party to the within action.  My business address is:  811 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 1650, Los Angeles, California  90017-2666.

On May 13, 2008, I served the foregoing document described as SECOND AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FALSE ADVERTISING LAW AND THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW on the interested parties in this action by placing [] the original [x] a true copy thereof enclosed in a sealed envelope addressed as follows:

SERVICE LIST

I caused such envelope with postage thereon fully prepaid to be placed in the United States mail at Los Angeles, California.  I am "readily familiar" with the firm's practice of collection and processing correspondence for mailing.  Under that practice it would be deposited with U.S. postal service on that same day with postage thereon fully prepaid at Los Angeles, California, in the ordinary course of business.  I am aware that on motion of the party served, service is presumed invalid if postal cancellation date or postage meter date is more than one day after date of deposit for mailing in affidavit.

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the above is true and correct.  I declare that I am employed in the office of a member of the bar of this court at whose direction the service was made.

Executed on May 13, 2008, at Los Angeles, California.





_____________________________





Tina Walling
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	Rosemarie T. Ring

MUNGER, TOLLES & OLSON LLP
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	Scott R. Shepherd
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